

# MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the  
**LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY**  
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library  
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from scanned originals with text recognition applied  
(searchable text may contain some errors and/or omissions)

# ACTS AND RESOLVES

AS PASSED BY THE

Ninety-seventh Legislature

OF THE

# STATE OF MAINE

Published by the Director of Legislative Research in accordance with subsection VI of section 27 of chapter 10 of the Revised Statutes of 1954.

---

KENNEBEC JOURNAL  
AUGUSTA, MAINE  
1955

---

---

PUBLIC LAWS  
OF THE  
STATE OF MAINE

As Passed by the Ninety-seventh Legislature

1955

---

---

April 1 of each year. The State Tax Assessor shall determine the amount of tax due, in accordance with the provisions of section 79 of chapter 16, and shall include such amounts in the statements referred to in section 82 of chapter 16. Collection of such fire protection tax shall be enforced in the same manner as provided for the enforcement of collection of county taxes.'

Effective August 20, 1955

## Chapter 289

### AN ACT Relating to Change of Purposes of Domestic Mutual Insurance Companies.

*Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine, as follows:*

R. S., c. 60, § 33, amended. The 4th sentence of section 33 of chapter 60 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'Any such mutual company which changes its purposes to include the writing of any class or kind of insurance other than fire, marine or glass shall either have been doing business for a period of not less than 20 years, have a surplus of at least 60% of its unearned premium reserve as appears in its last annual statement filed with the Insurance Commissioner and have admitted assets of not less than \$125,000 after deducting therefrom the amount by which the net investment of such company in real estate owned exceeds, if it operates on the prepaid basis, 10% of its premiums in force or, if it operates on the assessment plan, 2% of the balance of its premium notes, both as appear in such statement, or shall have a guaranty capital of not less than \$100,000 divided into shares of \$100 each, and no policy shall be issued until  $\frac{1}{4}$  at least of its guaranty capital has been paid in, in cash, and invested as provided in section 71.'

Effective August 20, 1955

## Chapter 290

### AN ACT to Revise the Inland Fish and Game Laws.

*Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine, as follows:*

Sec. 1. R. S., c. 37, § 2, amended. The last sentence of section 2 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'Whenever the entire State is closed to hunting by proclamation of the Governor during the open season on deer, the Commissioner with the consent of the Governor and Council is authorized to extend the open season for deer hunting for a period of not more than 2 weeks, which period shall not total more than  $\frac{2}{3}$  of the time lost not to exceed the number of days lost.'

Sec. 2. R. S., c. 37, § 3, amended. Section 3 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'Sec. 3. Boundary waters with New Hampshire and Canada. The Commissioner, with the consent of the Advisory Council, shall have the authority to

prescribe bag limits, size limits, open or closed seasons and methods of taking game and other fish from the inland boundary waters between the ~~state~~ States of Maine and New Hampshire and Provinces of Canada. These rules and regulations shall be those that are mutually agreed upon by the ~~commissioner~~ Commissioners of Maine and New Hampshire and the Canadian Fishery Authorities.'

**Sec. 3. R. S., c. 37, § 4, amended.** The 6th and 7th sentences of section 4 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes are hereby amended to read as follows:

'The Council shall hold regular meetings with the Commissioner or his Deputy ~~at the state capitol on the 1st Thursday of January and July, annually in December and May of each year,~~ and special meetings at such other times and places within the State as would seem advisable. At the meeting held ~~on the 1st Thursday of January in May~~ of each year, the Council may elect one of its members as chairman and one as vice-chairman.'

**Sec. 4. R. S., c. 37, § 16, amended.** Section 16 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'**Sec. 16. State game farms.** The Commissioner is authorized to purchase suitable lands and erect buildings thereon within this State, necessary for the operation of state game farms for ~~experimental work in~~ the propagation of game birds and game animals for restocking the woods and forests of the State, and to take game of any kind, dead or alive, or import the same for the purposes of inspection, cultivation, propagation, distribution or for scientific or other purposes deemed by him to be of interest to the game industry of this State.'

**Sec. 5. R. S., c. 37, § 17, amended.** The last paragraph of section 17 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'Regulations may be published and filed in the same manner as rules and regulations ~~pertaining to fishing as provided for in section 9~~ and each area shall be posted with signs setting forth the regulations in effect thereon.'

**Sec. 6. R. S., c. 37, § 27, amended.** Section 27 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'**Sec. 27. Civil service commission.** The Advisory Council of the Department shall select ~~3~~ of its members to act as a Civil Service Commission. The ~~deputy commissioner~~ Chief Warden, with the approval of the Commissioner, shall prepare a written code for examinations for applicants for permanent employment in the warden service of the Department. Such code shall not become operative until reduced to writing and approved in writing by the Commissioner.'

**Sec. 7. R. S., c. 37, § 29, sub-§ I, amended.** Subsection I of section 29 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'**I.** The ~~deputy commissioner~~ Chief Warden, with the approval of the Commissioner, shall prepare open and competitive examinations for testing the practical fitness of applicants for permanent employment in the warden service.'

**Sec. 7-A. R. S., c. 37, § 39, sub-§§ II, III, amended.** Subsections II and III of section 39 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes are hereby amended to read as follows:

'II. Each resident of Maine and each nonresident shall purchase a fishing license, which shall be kept upon the person while fishing or transporting fish, and shall be exhibited upon request to any warden, guide or employee of this Department. A resident shall apply and obtain a license from the clerk ~~of~~ or agent in the town in which he has a residence, but if the applicant is a resident of the State and is domiciled in an unorganized territory, then the clerk ~~of~~ or agent in the town nearest to the unorganized place may issue a license. The Commissioner may appoint agents in unorganized towns for the purpose of issuing resident fishing licenses to the residents domiciled in that unorganized town.

III. ~~The clerks of all municipalities are authorized agents for the issuance of all fishing licenses. The commissioner may designate additional agents and shall determine the period during which they shall act. For the purpose of issuing licenses, the Commissioner may appoint clerks of towns or such other agents as he deems necessary, and shall determine the period during which they shall act. The license shall be issued upon payment of \$2.25 \$2.75, and the clerk or agent shall retain 25c from the fee. The license shall be valid for the calendar year in which it was issued. All licenses shall expire on midnight of December 31st of the year of issue. No license shall be willfully issued to any person not a resident of the municipality in which said license is issued, and the penalty of any violation of this provision shall be \$10 and costs.'~~

Sec. 7-B. R. S., c. 37, § 39, sub-§ XII, amended. The 2nd paragraph of subsection XII of section 39 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'Licenses ~~shall~~ may be issued by the clerk ~~of~~ or agent in the town in which said military or naval post, station or base is situated.'

Sec. 8. R. S., c. 37, § 42, amended. Section 42 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'Sec. 42. Closing fishways and waters near hatcheries and feeding stations to fishing. No person shall fish within 150 feet of any ~~fishway~~ dam in which a fishway is located; provided, however, that this section shall not include the taking of alewives and smelts in the manner provided under the laws regulating sea and shore fisheries.

All pools, beginning at a point 200 feet above and running to a point 200 feet below all state fish hatcheries and feeding stations, shall be closed to all fishing at all times.'

Sec. 9. R. S., c. 37, § 43, amended. Section 43 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended by repealing the last paragraph thereof.

Sec. 10. R. S., c. 37, § 49, amended. Section 49 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended by adding at the end of the 2nd paragraph the following sentence:

'Whenever any person, partnership or corporation sells such fish in more than 1 wholesale or retail outlet, each shall be licensed.'

Sec. 11. R. S., c. 37, § 54, amended. The last paragraph of section 54 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'Except as set forth in this section, it shall be unlawful to ice fish from 1/2 hour after sunset to 1/2 hour before sunrise of the following morning. ~~Each~~

line or trap used in ice fishing shall have attached to it the name and address of the owner of such line or trap.'

Sec. 12. R. S., c. 37, § 68, sub-§ VI, repealed and replaced. Subsection VI of section 68 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

'VI. "Game management" is the art or science of producing wild animals and birds and of improving wildlife conditions in the State. It may specifically include the following:

- A. Regulation of hunting and trapping.
- B. Environmental controls (control of water, food or cover, special features and animal diseases).
- C. Research or investigations to provide a basis for sound management in Maine.
- D. Manipulation of hunting pressure.
- E. Establishment of game lands (parks, forests, refuges, game management areas, etc.).
- F. Predator control.
- G. Artificial replenishment (game farming and restocking).
- H. Introduction of exotic species of wild animals or birds where needed.'

Sec. 13. R. S., c. 37, § 68, sub-§§ VII and VIII, additional. Section 68 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended by adding thereto 2 new subsections, to be numbered VII and VIII, to read as follows:

'VII. A "game management area" is any tract of land or body of water owned or leased by the Department for the purposes of game management as defined in subsection VI or created by an act of the Legislature.

VIII. "Sunrise" and "sunset" shall be the time given in the Maine Farmers Almanac.'

Sec. 14. R. S., c. 37, § 71, amended. Section 71 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended by adding at the end of the 1st paragraph the following sentence:

'The Commissioner or his duly appointed agents in an emergency may use such devices or methods as are necessary for control of wild dogs or other wild animals when approved by the Advisory Council.'

Sec. 15. R. S., c. 37, § 72, amended. Section 72 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended by adding at the end thereof a new paragraph to read as follows:

'The Commissioner or his duly appointed agents may, however, in an emergency use such devices or methods as are necessary for control of wild dogs or other wild animals when approved by the Advisory Council.'

Sec. 15-A. R. S., c. 37, § 73, sub-§ III, amended. Subsection III of section 73 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'III. For the purpose of issuing licenses, the ~~clerks of all towns are authorized agents.~~ The Commissioner may appoint ~~additional agents~~ clerks of towns or such other agents as he deems necessary and shall determine the period during which they shall act.

The license ~~shall~~ may be issued to a resident by the clerk ~~of~~ or agent in the town in which the applicant resides, or if domiciled in an unorganized territory, then by the clerk ~~of~~ or agent in the nearest town, upon payment of a fee of ~~\$2.25~~ \$2.75, of which 25c shall be retained by the town clerk or agent. The Commissioner may appoint agents in unorganized towns for the purpose of issuing resident hunting licenses to the residents domiciled in that unorganized town.

A combination of hunting and fishing license may be issued on payment of ~~\$4.25~~ \$5.25, 25c to be retained by the town clerk or agent.

Each agent shall forward to the Commissioner on the 1st day of each calendar month all of the funds collected by him during the previous calendar month, together with a list of the persons and the kind of licenses issued to them. The funds received by the Commissioner shall be deposited in the State Treasury. Each agent shall be entitled to retain the sum of 25c for each license issued.'

Sec. 16. R. S., c. 37, § 73, sub-§ VII, repealed and replaced. Subsection VII of section 73 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby repealed and the following enacted in place thereof:

'VII. Any nonresident between the ages of 12 and 15 years may buy a junior nonresident hunting license entitling him to hunt wild birds and animals during the open season therefor, except deer, upon payment of \$5.25. Any nonresident over the age of 12 years may purchase the \$25.25 license to hunt wild birds and animals, including deer; provided, however, that between the ages of 12 and 16, the application shall be accompanied by the written consent of his or her parent or guardian; and provided further, that such nonresident must be accompanied at all times while hunting by parent or guardian or an adult approved by parent or guardian.

Any resident between the ages of 10 and 16 years may hunt with firearms without a license, if accompanied at all times while hunting by a parent or guardian or by an adult approved by parent or guardian.

No resident under the age of 10 years and no nonresident under the age of 12 years may hunt wild birds or animals with firearms at any time.'

Sec. 17. R. S., c. 37, § 73, sub-§ X, amended. The 1st paragraph of subsection X of section 73 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'All funds derived from the sale of licenses under the provisions of this chapter shall be used for the management, propagation and protection of all ~~bird life~~ birds, ~~animal life~~ animals, and fish life, conservation education and other expenses incident ~~for~~ to the administration of these functions.'

Sec. 18. R. S., c. 37, § 80, amended. The 1st paragraph of section 80 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:



'It shall be unlawful for the operator of any ~~motor~~ vehicle to immediately fail or refuse to stop any such vehicle or conveyance of any kind, upon request or signal of any officer whose duty it is to enforce the game laws when such officer is in uniform.'

Sec. 19. R. S., c. 37, § 85, amended. The 1st and 3rd paragraphs of section 85 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes are hereby amended to read as follows:

'No person shall hunt or have in his possession any eagle, Hungarian partridge ~~or capercaillie, cock of the woods or any black game,~~ sharp-tailed grouse, chukar partridge and bobwhite quail.'

'There shall be an annual open season on woodcock from October 1st to October 31st, both days inclusive, and during the open season no person shall take ~~or kill more than 7~~ woodcock in any 7 day ~~or have more than 8~~ in possession at any 7 time.'

Sec. 20. R. S., c. 37, § 88, amended. The 1st sentence of section 88 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'No person shall have in his possession, living or dead, any wild bird other than a game bird or a migratory game bird, except under a permit issued in accordance with the provisions of the Federal Migratory Bird Treaty Act (Act of Congress approved July 3, 1918).'

Sec. 21. R. S., c. 37, § 124, amended. Section 124 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended by inserting after the 1st sentence a new sentence to read as follows:

'All persons aiding or assisting another in buying the skins or heads of deer shall be considered as engaged in the business of buying the skins or heads of deer and must procure a license therefor.'

Sec. 22. R. S., c. 37, § 151, repealed, and R. S., c. 37, § 117-A, additional. Section 151 of chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby repealed and chapter 37 of the revised statutes is hereby amended by adding thereto a new section, to be numbered 117-A, to read as follows:

'Sec. 117-A. Field trials for retrieving dogs. Upon application of any incorporated or unincorporated club or organization having in its membership 25 or more members who are citizens who have been residents of the State for at least 6 months immediately prior to making application and the payment of a fee of \$10, the Department may at its discretion issue a license to such club or organization to hold at the time and place stated in such license a field trial for retrieving dogs for the purpose of demonstrating the skill of such dogs in retrieving dead or wounded game birds. A separate application shall be filed for each field trial proposed to be held by any such club or organization. Such license when issued shall authorize members of the licensee to shoot and kill with firearms, under supervision of a representative of the Department, game birds propagated or legally acquired by members of the licensee and released by members of the licensee at the field trial held at the time and place specified in such license, but only during the daylight hours and only with the consent of the owner of or person having legal control of the land on which such field trial is held. Before any game bird so shot is consumed or removed from the premises, a representative of the Department shall attach a tag thereto. Such tag shall be furnished by the Department for a reasonable fee and shall remain attached to the bird until the same is prepared for consumption. Licensees shall pay the Department for services of its representative at such field

trials at the rate of \$15 per day. Persons participating in any such field trial pursuant to the provisions of this section shall not be required to have hunting licenses. Game birds so released or shot pursuant to the provisions of this section shall not be deemed to be wild birds.'

Sec. 23. R. S., c. 140, § 3, amended. The last sentence of section 3 of chapter 140 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'Nothing in this section prohibits the shooting of wild game in its wild state or the shooting of birds at field trials under the supervision of the Department of Inland Fisheries and Game in accordance with the provisions of section ~~45~~ 117-A of chapter 37.'

Effective August 20, 1955

## Chapter 291

### AN ACT Relating to Public Camp Sites and Lunch Grounds Maintained by Forestry Department.

*Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine, as follows:*

R. S., c. 36, § 113, additional. Chapter 36 of the revised statutes is hereby amended by adding a new section to be numbered section 113 to read as follows:

#### 'Camp Sites and Lunch Grounds.

Sec. 113. Public camp sites and lunch grounds. It shall be unlawful for any person or persons to erect any trailer, shelter or tent from May 1st to November 30th at any public camp site or lunch ground maintained or authorized by the Forestry Department within the State and leave such trailer, shelter or tent for more than one week in any 30-day period. It shall also be unlawful to erect any trailer, shelter or tent nearer than 20 feet from any fireplace at any public camp site or lunch ground. Persons already having occupied a camp site or lunch ground maintained or authorized by the Forestry Department for more than one week shall leave at the request of the Forest Commissioner or his representatives, or any Fish and Game Warden. The failure of any person to comply with the provisions of this section shall, on conviction, be punished by a fine of not less than \$10, nor more than \$100, or by imprisonment for not more than 30 days, or by both such fine and imprisonment.'

Effective August 20, 1955

## Chapter 292

### AN ACT Relating to Apothecaries and the Sale of Poisons.

*Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine, as follows:*

R. S., c. 68, § 38, sub-§ I, amended. Subsection I of section 38 of chapter 68 of the revised statutes is hereby amended to read as follows:

'I. An apothecary, in good faith, may sell and dispense narcotic drugs to any person upon a written prescription, or an oral prescription in pursuance to